MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-TS-01668-COA

MARCY WRIGHT

APPELLANT

VS.

ROYAL CARPET SERVICES, INC.

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Marcy Wright, Appellant;
- 2. John Adams Wright, Former Plaintiff;
- 3. Jim Waide, Esq., Attorney for Appellant;
- 4. Waide & Associates, P.A., Attorneys for Appellant;
- 5. Royal Carpet Services Inc., Appellee;

This case presents a simple issue for which oral argument is not needed.

i

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY ALLOWING DEFENDANT TO PUT ON EVIDENCE CONCERNING WRIGHT'S BEING COVERED BY INSURANCE.

i

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Course and Proceedings Below

1. On February 13, 2004, Marcy and her son, John Adams Wright, filed their Complaint in the Lowndes County Circuit Court alleging breach of contract, negligent failure to warn of a known danger, and for products liability against Metropolitan Property and Casualty Insurance Company, Metlife Auto and Home, Economy Premier Assurance Company, Royal Carpet Service, LLC, Service Pro South, Microban Systems, Inc., and II Rep-Z Inc. [R:8]¹

2. On March 3, 2004, the Wrights filed their Amended Complaint. [R:71]

3. On March 26, 2004, the insurance companies removed the case to federal court. [R:146, 148]

4. On March 12, 2006, the federal court remanded this case back to the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi, after the Wrights compromised and dismissed their claims against all the defendants except Service Pro South and Royal Carpet Service. [R:158]

5. On July 7, 2006, Royal Carpet filed its motion for summary judgment [R:163], with memorandum [R:413]

6. On November 21, 2006, the Circuit Court denied Defendant's motion for

¹Citations to the Record will be as follows: [Record: Page Number]. Citations to the Trial will be as follows: [Transcript: Page Number]

summary judgment.² [R:843]

í.

í

7. On August 16, 2007, the Wrights³ filed a motion *in limine* to exclude evidence of Wright's homeowner's insurance having settled, citing the collateral source rule and Miss. R. Evid. 403. [R:902]

8. On August 21, 2007, trial commenced. [T:2]

9. On August 23, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Royal Carpet. [R:1018]

10. On September 6, 2007, the Circuit Court entered a judgment in favor of Royal Carpet. [R:1024]

11. On September 24, 2007, Marcy Wright filed her notice of appeal to this Court. [R:1026]

²The Court also denied Defendant's motion to strike experts. [R:842]

³After trial, John Adams Wright was dismissed from the case. [R:1022]

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1978, Marcy Wright moved to Columbus, Mississippi, with her husband who was in the Air Force, and her infant child. [T:37]

Around 1987 or 1988, Marcy Wright, now divorced, bought the house at issue in this lawsuit. [T:38] Marcy Wright lived in the house with her emotionally disturbed child, John Adams Wright. [T:38] Later, Wright's seriously ill mother would move into a trailer behind her house. [T:40] Prior to the damage to her house, Wright valued the house as between \$60,000 and \$65,000. [T:39]

On Saturday, October 6, 2001, Wright spent the night with her ailing mother in the trailer behind her house. [T:42] On Sunday, October 7, Wright returned to her house around 5 a.m. and discovered that water was coming out of her house. [T:43] Upon entering the house, Wright noticed that there was an inch or more of water covering the floor caused by busted pipes. [T:43] Wright spent all day Sunday trying to remove the water from the house. [T:44]

On Monday and Tuesday, Wright contacted numerous companies trying to find one with the expertise to do water restoration. [T:45-46] On one of those days, Wright called Royal Carpet concerning the matter and spoke with its owner, Danny Madison. [T: 45-47] Madison agreed to remedy the problem but did not arrive at the house until Thursday, October 11, 2001, two or three days after he was contacted. [T:49-50]

Madison informed Wright that the water moisture level had absorbed into the wall up to four inches; however, inexplicably, he did not remove the baseboards to dry that area out. [T:50-51] All Madison did was put out de-humidifier and fans, and spray Microban. [T:50-51]

On Monday, October 15, 2001, Madison returned and picked up his equipment; he never checked in on the house during those intervening four days. [T:52] After Madison left, when Wright would return to her house she would detect a strong odor, cough and sneeze, and get welts on her skin and for that reason, she was unable to stay there long. [T:52-53]

A few months later, Wright removed the baseboards and discovered mold behind them. [T:59] Wright was unable to move back into her house because there was mold behind the baseboards of every room and it made her sick. [T:60]

Plaintiff's expert, Joseph M. Drapala, an environmental engineer, provided testimony that the damages claimed by Wright were proximately caused by the negligence of Royal Carpet in failing to respond rapidly to the problem and to adequately remedy the water problem at the Wright residence. [T:238-47] Drapala also opined that Royal Carpet failed to properly inform Wright about the dangers of the antimicrobial compound he applied in the home. [T:238-47] His ultimate opinion

is that Royal Carpet's delay and/or failure to properly address the water damage at issue caused the subject home to experience, and continue to experience, a substantial biological contamination. [T:238-47]

The Wrights sought around \$98,000.00 in damages to personal property on their negligence and breach of contract claims. [T:62]

Prior to trial, Plaintiffs filed a motion *in limine* to exclude mention of the insurance companies who insured the house, and the settlement with those companies. [R:902]

At trial, Wright argued the motion asking this Court to exclude evidence that Marcy Wright had homeowners' insurance coverage, that she had filed suit against the insurance company, that the case was settled, and that the insurance coverage was paid. [T:9] Wright argued that the insurance is a "collateral source" and the fact that she had insurance and it was paid is not relevant, highly prejudicial and confusing to the jury. [T:9]

Royal Carpet responded that Marcy Wright made admissions to the insurance company that should be presented to the jury, and the jury would not get the whole story without this information. [T:13] Royal Carpet further argued, "Because if the homeowners' insurance won't come in, I will not be able to get into the mitigation of damages issue." [T:13] The Court ruled that since Marcy Wright had received remuneration from another outside source, not a party to this litigation, Defendant had the "right to crossexamine her concerning a statement she might have made against her interest in this litigation. But that's as far as it goes." [T:21-22]

At trial, during cross-examination, Defendant's attorney asked Wright, "And the insurance company even offered to have your clothes cleaned early on, did they not?" [T:92] Wright's attorney objected because this was a collateral source issue that was irrelevant. [T:92-93] The Court overruled the objection. [T:93] As Defendant's attorney continued to pursue this line of questioning, Wright's attorney asked to approach the bench, where again he argued that the testimony was irrelevant and unduly prejudicial under the collateral source rule. [T:94-95]

Later during cross examination, Defendant's attorney asked Wright about the list that was submitted to her insurance company. [T:107] Again, Wright's attorney objected citing the collateral source rule. [T:107] The Court overruled the objection. [T:107]

STANDARD OF REVIEW

According to this Court:

i

We utilize an abuse of discretion standard when reviewing evidentiary rulings by a trial judge. *Church of God Pentecostal, Inc. v. Freewill Pentecostal Church of God, Inc.,* 716 So.2d 200, 210 (Miss.1998). In order to reverse a case on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the

ruling must result in prejudice and adversely affect a substantial right of the aggrieved party. *Terrain Enters., Inc. v. Mockbee,* 654 So.2d 1122, 1131 (Miss.1995). Thus, not only must the trial judge abuse his discretion, the harm must be severe enough to harm a party's substantial right.

Brandon HMA, Inc. v. Bradshaw, 809 So.2d 611, 618 (Miss.2001).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Wright argued the motion asking this Court to exclude evidence that Marcy Wright has homeowners' insurance coverage, that she had filed suit against the insurance company, and that case was settled and the insurance coverage was paid. Wright argued that the insurance is a "collateral source" and the fact that she had insurance and it was paid is not relevant, highly prejudicial and confusing to the jury. [T:9]

Royal Carpet responded that Marcy Wright made some admissions to the insurance company that it should be able to present to the jury, and the jury would not get the whole story without this information. Royal Carpet also argued that the second evidence goes to whether she mitigated her damages. [T:13]

The Court ruled that since Marcy Wright had received remuneration from another outside source, not a party to this litigation, Defendant had the "right to crossexamine her concerning a statement she might have made against her interest in this litigation. But that's as far as it goes." [T: 21-22]

ł

8

At trial, during cross-examination, Defendant's attorney asked Wright, "And the insurance company even offered to have your clothes cleaned early on, did they not?" Wright's attorney objected because this was a collateral issue that was irrelevant. The Court overruled the objection. [T: 92-93]

Also during cross examination, Defendant's attorney asked Wright about the list that was submitted to her insurance company. Again, Wright's attorney objected citing the collateral source rule. The Court overruled the objection. [T: 107]

Permitting this evidence was clear error. Under Mississippi law, "indemnity for the loss received by plaintiff from a collateral source, wholly independent of the wrongdoer, as from insurance, cannot be set up by the latter in mitigation or reduction of damages...." *Brandon HMA, Inc. v. Bradshaw*, 809 So.2d 611, 618 (Miss. 2001).

ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY ALLOWING DEFENDANT TO PUT ON EVIDENCE THAT WRIGHT HAD INSURANCE AND THAT THE INSURANCE COMPANY OFFERED TO PAY OFF HER CLAIM

At trial, Wright argued that Royal Carpet should not be allowed to put on evidence that she had insurance, but the Circuit Court rejected her argument stating that Royal Carpet was allowed to do so in order to show that Wright failed to mitigate her damages. In doing so, the Circuit Court committed reversible error.

9

In fact, the rule is specifically designed to prevent a Defendant from mentioning insurance in order to mitigate their damages: "t]he collateral source rule in Mississippi provides that "[c]ompensation or indemnity for the loss received by plaintiff from a collateral source, wholly independent of the wrongdoer, as from insurance, cannot be set up by the [defendant] *in mitigation or reduction of damages.*" *Burr v. Mississippi Baptist Medical Center*, 909 So.2d 721 (Miss.2005)(Citing *Busick v. St. John*, 856 So.2d 304, 309 (Miss.2003) (emphasis added in original)). *See also Coker v. Five-Two Taxi Serv.*, 211 Miss. 820, 826, 52 So.2d 356, 357 (1951) (quoting 25 C.J.S. *Damages*, § 99). *Accord, Baugh v. Alexander*, 767 So.2d 269, 272 (Miss.Ct.App.2000).

As the Court stated in *Brandon HMA*, *Inc. v. Bradshaw*, 809 So.2d 611, 618 (Miss.2001):

Mississippi has recognized the collateral source rule for decades. It states, "[c]ompensation or indemnity for the loss received by plaintiff from a collateral source, wholly independent of the wrongdoer, as from insurance, cannot be set up by the latter in mitigation or reduction of damages...." *Coker v. Five-Two Taxi Serv., Inc.,* 211 Miss. 820, 826, 52 So.2d 356, 357 (1951) (citing 25 C.J.S. *Damages* § 99). In other words, a tortfeasor cannot use the moneys of others (insurance companies, gratuitous gifts, etc.) to reduce the cost of its own wrongdoing. *See McCary v. Caperton,* 601 So.2d 866, 869 (Miss.1992); *Star Chevrolet Co. v. Green,* 473 So.2d 157, 162 (Miss.1985); *Clary v. Global Marine, Inc.,* 369 So.2d 507, 509 (Miss.1979). *See also Guyote v. Mississippi Valley Gas Co.,* 715 F.Supp. 778, 780 n. 1 (S.D.Miss.1989).

However, the collateral source rule applies only when the compensation is for

the same injury for which the damages at issue are sought. Baugh v. Alexander, 767

So.2d 269, 272 (Miss.Ct.App.2000).

Further:

In *Baugh*, which involved an automobile accident, a motion in limine was filed by the plaintiffs to exclude evidence of health insurance and workers' compensation benefits which the plaintiff had been receiving for a previous and distinct injury from the accident. *Id.* at 272. There, this Court found the trial court did not err in denying the motion because the compensation was received for a different injury than those of the case under consideration, and thus the collateral source rule was inapplicable. *Id.* at 272.

Virginia Geske cites three cases in her brief for the proposition that when the collateral source rule is violated, the admission of evidence is reversible error: *McCary v. Caperton*, 601 So.2d 866 (Miss.1992); *Cent. Bank of Miss. v. Butler*, 517 So.2d 507 (Miss.1987); and *Preferred Risk Mut. Ins. Co. v. Courtney*, 393 So.2d 1328 (Miss.1981). These three cases are distinguishable from the instant case in that in the cited cases the sources of compensation are all for the *same* injury. However, in this case, the compensation at issue was for the injury of Jerald's mesothelioma due to asbestos exposure, and not for the damages caused by the alleged unlawful termination of insurance benefits. Since this source of damages is derived from separate and distinct alleged torts, the collateral source rule is inapplicable.

Geske v. Williamson, 945 So.2d 429 (Miss. App.2006)

That is not the case here, where the injuries that the insurance company paid

for were the same injuries for which Wright sued Royal Carpet.

In Smith v. Crawford, 937 So.2d 446, 447 (Miss.2006), the Court stated:

There are numerous Mississippi cases which stand for the proposition that references to liability insurance are generally impermissible and constitute reversible error. *See Jackson v. Daley*, 739 So.2d 1031, 1039 (Miss.1999); *Morris v. Huff*, 238 Miss. 111, 117-20, 117 So.2d 800, 802-03 (1960); *Snowden v. Skipper*, 230 Miss. 684, 697, 93 So.2d 834, 840 (1957); *Avent v. Tucker*, 188 Miss. 207, 225-26, 194 So. 596, 602 (1940); *Herrin v. Daly*, 80 Miss. 340, 341-42, 31 So. 790, 791 (1902).

There appears to be one exception to this rule:

this Court has made one exception to this general prohibition. Where a defendant makes an impermissible statement intimating that he does not have insurance, the plaintiff is justified to inform the jury just the opposite. *Snowden v. Webb*, 217 Miss. 664, 674-76, 64 So.2d 745, 750-51 (1953). In *Snowden*, the defense counsel told the jury that any verdict returned would have to be paid out of his client's wages. *Id.* at 674, 64 So.2d at 750. Plaintiff's counsel then informed the jury that "not one cent of this would come out of Mr. Snowden's pocket or wages." *Id.* at 674, 64 So.2d at 749. The trial court sustained the defense's objection and instructed the jury to disregard the remark. *Id.* at 676, 64 So.2d at 751. On appeal, this Court held that the response by plaintiff's counsel was justified and did not constitute reversible error, especially since the circuit judge instructed the jury to disregard the statement. *Id.*

Smith, at 447 -448.

This exception is not applicable to the case *sub judice* because Wright never

intimated that she did not have insurance, opening the door to proof that she did.

Other defendants have attempted to establish exceptions to the rule, such as for

the purpose of impeachment, but have failed to do so:

In *McCary v. Caperton*, 601 So.2d 866 (Miss.1992), we held that the trial court committed reversible error in allowing the defendant to introduce evidence of McCary's insurance coverage or benefits of sick leave. *Id.* at 869. We were asked to rule on the issue of whether an

impeachment exception should be recognized under the collateral source doctrine. Id. Our decisions have not recognized an exception to the collateral source rule. E.g., McCollum v. Franklin, 608 So.2d 692, 695 (Miss. 1992) (holding collateral source doctrine precludes defendant in automobile accident from cross-examining plaintiff as to whether plaintiff has received insurances proceeds, including plaintiff's health insurance); *Eaton v. Gilliland*, 537 So.2d 405, 408 (Miss. 1989) (holding that defendant's attempted elicitation of evidence of insurance proceeds paid with respect to the accident by a collateral source could have been prejudicial and confusing, further the jury could have been left with the impression that the plaintiff was attempting to improperly and illegally "double dip" or receive a "wind fall" to which he was not entitled); Central Bank of Miss. v. Butler, 517 So.2d 507, 511 (Miss.1987) (holding that collateral source doctrine properly applied to prevent elicitation of evidence that plaintiffs received compensation from surety bond maintained completely independent of any efforts made by defendant); Star Chevrolet Co. v. Green by Green, 473 So.2d 157, 162 (Miss.1985) (holding that insurance in behalf of the plaintiff cannot be set up by the adverse party in mitigation of the loss); Preferred Risk Mut. Ins. Co. v. Courtney, 393 So.2d 1328, 1332-33 (Miss.1981) (holding that under the collateral source rule, a tortfeasor is not entitled to have the damages for which he is liable reduced by proving that an injured party has received compensation from a collateral source wholly independent of the tortfeasor).

Busick v. St. John, at 309.

برجابهم المرجا

Even if a defendant could show that the evidence is being offered for another

purpose, it still must be filtered through Miss. R. Evid. 403:

In view of the well-established policy of this State against interjecting such information in the trial without legitimate purpose other than as an attempt to color the juror's view of the case, we conclude that this policy ought to weigh heavily against admitting such evidence under Rule 403 even though some alternate basis for admitting it might have some arguable legal basis. Toche v. Killebrew. 734 So.2d 276, 283 (Miss. App.1999)

The reason for the rule is that this evidence is substantially more prejudicial

than any probative value this evidence might have, as stated in Eaton v. Gilliland, 537

So.2d 405 (Miss.1988):

We are unable to say that the violation of this rule in attempting to reduce Gilliland's liability before the jury was not prejudicial and confusing. For certain the jury could have gotten the impression that Eaton was attempting to improperly and illegally "double dip" or receive a "wind fall" to which he was not entitled because 80% of the medical and hospital bills had already been paid by an insurance company which was, as a matter of law, wholly independent of him (Gilliland), the wrongdoer. . .Finding reversible error, we have no alternative except to remand this case to the Circuit Court of Forrest County for a new trial in a manner not inconsistent with this opinion.

Here, as in *Eaton*, the Court permitted a defense based on a theory that by having her own insurance coverage, Wright was attempting to "double dip" or "receive a windfall." As in *Eaton*, this is reversible error.

CONCLUSION

Because of the prejudicial injection of the insurance issues, Wright asks this Court to reverse and remand this case to the Circuit Court. The Circuit Court abused its discretion in allowing evidence concerning insurance before the jury, and the harm was severe enough to harm Wright's substantial right to a fair trial. Respectfully submitted,

WAIDE AND ASSOCIATES, P.A.

Ward BY:

MISSISSIPPI BAR NUMBER 6857

WAIDE AND ASSOCIATES, P.A. ATTORNEYS AT LAW POST OFFICE BOX 1357 TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 38802 Telephone: 662-842-7324 Facsimile: 662-842-8056 Email: waide@waidelaw.com

Attorneys for Appellants