# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE # 2007-TS-01668-CA

**MARCY WRIGHT** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

ROYAL CARPET SERVICE, LLC.

**APPELLEE** 

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Marcy Wright, Appellant;
- 2. John Adams Wright, Former Plaintiff;
- 3. Jim Waide, Esq., Attorney for Appellant;
- 4. Waide & Associates, P. A., Attorneys for Appellant;

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

Even if, this Court does not agree that Royal Carpet's position regarding the collateral source rule is correct, Wright has waived any objection she may have had concerning the mention of homeowner's insurance. Wright introduced the information she is now complaining.

Wright may not rely upon her motion *in limine* to exclude evidence of homeowner's insurance as that motion was never denied. [T-7 – T-25] Wright failed to preserve her objections throughout the trial and, in fact, introduced evidence herself for which she now complains and cannot correct such on appeal. Wright also affirmatively stated that she did not object to Wright's June 23, 2003 letter from being introduced into evidence. [R-899, D-1]

Finally, Wright has not demonstrated how the allowance of this information, if improper, was an abuse of discretion and caused irreparable harm at trial. Therefore, given the above arguments, which are more fully set forth below, this Court should affirm the judgment entered in the lower court by the Lowndes County jury.

### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has held that it should apply an abuse-of-discretion standard of review when reviewing the trial court's decision to allow or disallow evidence. *Webb v. Braswell*, 930 So.2d 387, 396-97 (Miss.2006) (citing *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (Miss.2003)). Furthermore, "a motion *in limine* should be granted only if '(1) the material or evidence in question will be inadmissible at a trial under the rules of evidence; and (2) the mere offer, reference, or statements made during trial concerning the material will tend to prejudice the jury." *McLemore*, 863 So.2d at 34 (quoting *Whittley v. City of Meridian*, 530 So.2d 1341, 1344 (Miss.1988)). In order to reverse a case on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the ruling must result in prejudice and adversely affect a substantial right of the aggrieved party. *Terrain Enters., Inc. v. Mockbee*, 654 So.2d 1122, 1131 (Miss.1995). Thus, not only must the trial judge abuse his discretion, the harm must be severe enough to harm a party's substantial right. "[T]he standard of review regarding Rule 403 determinations is an 'abuse of discretion.'"

### IV. ARGUMENT

- A. THE ARGUMENTS RAISED BY WRIGHT ON APPEAL ARE WITHOUT MERIT
- 1. ROYAL CARPET DID NOT VIOLATE THE "COLLATERAL SOURCE RULE" IN THE TRIAL OF THIS CASE

It has long been established that, under the collateral-source rule, "a defendant tortfeasor is not entitled to have damages for which he is liable reduced by reason of the fact that the plaintiff has received compensation for his injury by and through a totally independent source, separate and apart from the defendant tortfeasor." *Cent. Bank of Miss. v. Butler*, 517 So.2d 507, 511-12 (Miss.1987) (citations omitted). In other words, the wrongdoer is not entitled to have the damages for which he is liable reduced by proving that plaintiff has received or will receive compensation or indemnity for the loss from a collateral source, wholly independent of him. Under this general rule, insurance on behalf of the injured person cannot be considered in mitigation of the loss, however, evidence of insurance can be used for other purposes. *Robinson Property Group, L.P. v. Mitchell*, 2009 WL 1085734 Miss.,2009. (citing *Coker v. Five-Two Taxi Serv.*, 211 Miss. 820, 826, 52 So.2d 356, 357 (1951) (quoting 25 C.J.S. Damages, § 99) (emphasis added). See also *Burr v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr.*, 909 So.2d 721, 728 (Miss.2005).)

It is clear from the record of this trial that the collateral source rule was not violated by Royal Carpet. The instances of homeowner's insurance which were discussed by Royal Carpet are set forth below.

a. Royal Carpet properly cross-examined Wright about her failure to prevent further alleged damage to her home and her personal property.

Wright has alleged in her Complaint [R-008] and Amended Complaint [R-071] that the Defendants in the case (which include her insurance carrier, Royal Carpet and others) are responsible for her inability to live in her home [T-86-89] and the alleged loss of her personal property [T-92-95]; [T-114]. Royal Carpet, was properly permitted by the trial court to question Wright about her failure to prevent further damage to her home, which required a discussion of her homeowner's insurance. Wright testified that she had abandoned the home in December of 2001 and refused to attempt to have her clothes cleaned, despite given the means and opportunity by her insurance carrier to do so. [T-86-89; 92-95]

This line of questioning was proper, as Wright was under a duty to prevent further damage to her own property. "A person injured in tort is required to take reasonable steps to mitigate his [or her] damages ...." Flight Line, Inc. v. Tanksley, 608 So. 2d 1149 (Miss. 1992); "Failure to mitigate damages will preclude recovery for any "injuries which the exercise of reasonable care could have avoided." Traveler's Indemnity Co. v. Rawson, 222 So. 2d 131 (Miss. 1969). Therefore, this line of questioning was properly allowed by the trial court and, as the Court can see, was not in violation of the collateral source rule. Robinson Property Group, L.P. v. Mitchell, 2009 WL 1085734 Miss., 2009.

 Royal Carpet was properly allowed to introduce Wright's June 23, 2003 letter (Wright's statement against interest) into evidence as Exhibit D-1

Royal Carpet introduced the June 23, 2003 letter, that Wright wrote to her insurance company, into evidence during the cross-examination of Wright [T-99-102] and during its closing

statement. [T-110][R-899, D-1] Wright assigned 100% of the responsibility of the blame to her carrier regarding claims that she was making against both Royal Carpet and her carrier. This letter constituted an admissible statement against interest on its own merit. [T-23] *Rankin v. State*, 963 So.2d 1255 Miss.App.,2007. (Court found that letter written to victim's mother by defendant was admissible). The Court commented that this statement could be considered a statement against interest. [T-23]

Further, Wright did not object to the introduction of this letter, [T-99] consequently, she has waived any objection to same and cannot now complain. *Trustmark National Bank v. Jeff Anderson Regional Medical Center*, 792 So. 2d 267 (Miss. 2000). Assuming Wright's failure to object do not waive her objection, clearly, this letter did not violate the collateral source rule, as the letter does not mention any amounts of money Wright may have received from her carrier. The letter was not used for any purpose precluded by the collateral source rule. *Robinson at 1165*.

c. Royal Carpet was proper in cross-examining Wright regarding her mental anguish claims she made against Royal Carpet which she also made against her insurance company

Wright made the same claims for mental anguish against her carrier as she did against Royal Carpet. [R-071] Royal Carpet cross-examined Wright about her troubles with her insurance company to demonstrate that someone else besides Royal Carpet could have caused the mental anguish she has alleged. [T-102-106] Clearly, this line of questioning does not fall under the purview of collateral source, as it solely deals with the cause of damages which Wright has claimed against both Royal Carpet and her carrier. *Id*.

### d. Royal Carpet properly cross-examined Wright regarding Exhibit, P-1

Royal Carpet cross-examined Wright about Plaintiff's exhibit P-1, which was a document that Wright, herself, introduced at trial and was characterized by her as information she submitted to her insurance company. [T-61] Wright placed into evidence information about her insurance, which Royal Carpet properly used to cross-examination Wright [T-106-107]. Even if Wright could somehow be held to not have waived her objection to this document, as it was Wright who introduced it, [T-99] Royal Carpet did not get into any amounts of money which Wright may have received and only asked her why she submitted the document. There was no violation of the collateral source rule, even if there could be an objection to this document which Wright placed into evidence, nor did the document mention the amount of money she received from carrier. *Id*.

# 2. WRIGHT HAS WAIVED ANY OBJECTION TO INTRODUCTION OF HOMEOWNER'S INSURANCE EVIDENCE

Wright has waived any argument related to the preclusion of any mention of homeowner's insurance. Wright, on numerous occasions during the trial made mention of insurance, introduced evidence regarding her insurance, or allowed evidence to be introduced regarding her homeowner's insurance. Wright cannot complain on appeal of alleged errors invited or induced by herself. *Rubenstein v. State*, 941 So.2d 735 Miss., 2006; *Davis v. State*, 472 So.2d 428 (Miss.1985); *Browning v. State*, 450 So.2d 789 (Miss.1984); *Jones v. State*, 381 So.2d 983, cert. den. 449 U.S. 1003, 101 S.Ct. 543, 66 L.Ed.2d 300 (Miss.1980). The following examples cited from the trial record clearly demonstrate Wright's waiver.

Wright said the following in her opening statement:

# P64<sup>6</sup> Line 6-11

- 6 There's going to be a lot of talk. And one
- 7 of the defenses that he seems to be making that
- 8 He asked her about is, well, she had insurance
- 9 and that she also blamed the insurance company, that
- they should have gotten the problem solved. And
- 11 that's true....

Additionally, during the direct examination of Ms. Wright, Wright, through her counsel, introduced as exhibit P-1 a personal property inventory list that was prepared for the insurance company and was mentioned in that context in her testimony at trial.

# [T-61]

### P 61 lines 7-23

- 7 O. Well, have you lost the use of all of your
- 8 clothes and furniture that was in the house?
- 9 A. Yes.
- 10 Q. All right, I believe at the request of the
- insurance company you prepared an inventory of what all
- 12 you had in the house -
- 13 A. Yes, I did.
- 14 Q. -- is that correct?
- 15 BY MR. WAIDE: Your Honor, may I have this
- 16 personal property inventory worksheet marked as
- 17 an exhibit?
- 18 BY THE COURT: Show it to counsel opposite,
- 19 please.
- 20 BY MR. WISE: No objection, Your Honor.
- 21 BY THE COURT: Let it be received and
- 22 marked. Pass it to the court reporter, and give
- 23 the court reporter time to mark the exhibit.

As mentioned above it is clear that Wright "opened the door" on any discussion of insurance and cannot now complain of same. *Id.* Furthermore, during the cross-examination of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The transcript for the opening statement was completed later by the Court reporter and later filed with this Court and is a separate supplement and transcript therefore the page numbers coincide with the main transcript.

Wright, Royal Carpet introduced [R-899, D-1]. D-1 was the June 23, 2003 letter Wright wrote to her insurance company wherein she attributed 100% of the damages she was making a claim for against Royal Carpet to her insurance company. Wright did not object and, in fact agreed, to the introduction of the June 23, 2003, letter [R-899] at trial and has therefore waived any objection to same.

# [T-99-100]

## P 99 lines 21-29, P. 100 lines 1

- 21 BY THE COURT: You may proceed. You're
- asking her to mark that for identification?
- 23 BY MR. JENKINS: It's going to be Defense's
- 24 Exhibit 1, Your Honor.
- 25 BY THE COURT: Do you want to tender it?
- 26 BY MR. WAIDE: I'm not going to object to
- 27 it, Your Honor.
- 28 BY THE COURT: There being no objection, go
- ahead and mark it as exhibit then, court

### P. 100 line 1

1 reporter. I wanted to get that in the record.

An issue is waived on appeal where there was no contemporaneous objection. *Russell v. State*, 607 So.2d 1107, 1117 (Miss.1992). This Court has held that in such a case to properly preserve the issue for appellate review the defendant must preserve for the record "substantial and detailed evidence of the testimony he would have given." *Heidelberg v. State*, 584 So.2d 393, 395 (Miss.1991) (quoting *Saucier v. State*, 562 So.2d 1238, 1245 (Miss.1990)) (overruled on other grounds). Not only has Wright failed to properly preserve this issue for appeal, Wright conceded and/or introduced the specific thing she wishes to make issue in her appeal.

Clearly, if the argument Wright has raised on appeal had any merit, which the Appellate

does not concede and in fact disputes, Wright has waived any objection to any mention of homeowner's insurance as she was the party who first made her homeowner's insurance an issue or did not timely object to the introduction of same. In fact, Wright agreed to allow evidence which she now complains to be introduced into evidence, with all of the ramifications that entails. Wright's appeal should be denied.

### B. THE DECISION OF THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT ERRONEOUS.

In order to reverse a case on the admission or exclusion of evidence, the ruling must result in prejudice and adversely affect a substantial right of the aggrieved party. *Terrain Enters.*, *Inc. v. Mockbee*, 654 So.2d 1122, 1131 (Miss.1995). Thus, not only must the trial judge abuse his discretion, the harm must be severe enough to harm a party's substantial right<sup>7</sup>.

Wright has not made any argument supported by the facts that would demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion. Wright has not made any showing of prejudice. Wright's argument only consists of a recitation of the state of the law in Mississippi regarding collateral source. Wright does not demonstrate any facts which would give this Court reason to find that Wright was somehow prejudiced and caused severe enough harm to warrant relief.

### C. WRIGHT'S APPEAL IS DEFICIENT ON ITS FACE

As this Court has undoubtedly noted, Wrights' appeal contains multiple case citations to authority related to the general application of the collateral source rule, but does not connect these citations to any argument related to the issue(s) she is attempting to appeal. As required by Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure 28(a)(6), Wright's argument should have contained .

"the contentions of appellant with respect to the issues presented, and the reasons for those

<sup>7</sup> It should be noted that as the Lowndes County jury returned a verdict in favor of Royal Carpet no prejudice

contentions, with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the record relied on." Wright has failed to meet her appellate obligations and burden of persuasion and therefore, the decision of the trial court should be affirmed. See Graves v. State, 918 So.2d 791 (Miss. App. 2005). The rule has long been established that an issue is barred where the appellant fails to support it with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the record upon which he relies. Johnson v. State, 154 Miss. 512, 513, 122 So. 529, 529 (1929); see also North Biloxi Development Co., LLC v. Miss. Transp. Comm., 912 So. 2d 1118 (Miss. App. 2005); Jackson v. State, 935 So.2d 1108 (Miss. App. 2005); Williams v. State, 708 So.2d 1358 (Miss.1998); Read v. Southern Pine Elec. Power Ass'n, 515 So.2d 916, 920 (Miss.1987).

As mentioned above in the Standard of Review, it is not enough just to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion, which is a high hurdle in and of itself, Wright must also demonstrate that if there was an abuse of discretion that the error was severe enough to cause irreparable harm. Wright's argument is devoid of any citations to the record and/or the trial transcript to demonstrate an abuse of discretion by the Court, much less an irreparable harm to the appellant.

Wright's argument clearly does not meet the requirements set forth in the Rules of Appellate Procedure and the issues are barred from consideration by this Court pursuant to the well-settled law in Mississippi. However, out of an abundance of caution, Royal Carpet has attempted to respond to the issues as captioned by Wright as those forming the basis for this appeal.

### V. CONCLUSION

Wright's appeal is without merit as Royal Carpet has not violated the "collateral source rule' as none of the evidence or questioning by Royal Carpet involved monetary amounts Wright received from her insurance company. Additionally, Wright cannot now complain of evidence regarding homeowner's insurance which she herself put in front of the trier of fact, failed to make timely objections or allowed in the evidence she is complaining. Therefore, Wright has waived any argument regarding same.

Finally, Wright's appeal is deficient on its face as she does not demonstrate any facts from the record or transcript which would give this Court a basis to find that the lower Court abused its discretion in allowing the evidence for which she is complaining to be introduced at trial. Wright has not demonstrated how this non-specific evidence would prejudice Wright to a degree where this Court would need to reverse the jury verdict in Lowndes County. For these foregoing reasons Wright's appeal should be denied and the judgment of the lower court affirmed.

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Appellee, Royal Carpet, LLC., respectfully request this Court deny Appellant's appeal and to uphold the jury verdict found in favor of Royal Carpet.